1	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ. Nevada Bar No.: 1641			
2	Nevada Bar No.: 1641 mbohn@bohnlawfirm.com			
3	LAW OFFICES OF MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD.			
4	2260 Corporate Circlé, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074		Electronically Filed	
	MICHAEL F. BOHN, ESQ., LTD. 2260 Corporate Circle, Ste. 480 Henderson, Nevada 89074 (702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 FAX Attorney for defendants/appellants		Jan 28 2019 11:31 Elizabeth A. Brown Clerk of Supreme)
6			•	
7				
8	SUPREME (COURT		
9	STATE OF 1	NEVADA		
11	9352 CRANESBILL TRUST; TEAL			
12	PETALS ST. TRUST; AND IYAD HADDAD,	No. 76017		
13	Appellants,			
14	VS.			
15	WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,			
16	Respondents.			
17				
18				
19				
20	APPELLANTS' OF	PENING BRIEF		
21				
22	Michael F. Bohn, Esq. Law Office of			
	Michael F. Bohn, Esq., Ltd. 2260 Corporate Circle. Ste. 480			
24	Henderson, Nevada 89074			
25	(702) 642-3113/ (702) 642-9766 Fax Attorney for defendants/appellants, 9352 Cranesbill Trust, Teal Petals St.			
26	Trust, and Iyad Haddad			
27				
28				

NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENT

Counsel for defendants/appellants certifies that the following are persons and entities as described in NRAP 26.1(a), and must be disclosed. These representations are made in order that the judges of this court may evaluate possible disqualification or recusal.

1. 9352 Cranesbill Trust is a Nevada trust.

- 2. Teal Petals St. Trust is a Nevada trust.
- 3. Resources Group, LLC, a Nevada limited-liability company, is the trustee for 9352 Cranesbill Trust and Teal Petals St. Trust.
 - 4. Iyad Haddad a/k/a Eddie Haddad is the manager for Resources Group, LLC

1	TABLE OF CONTENTS
2	NRAP 26.1 DISCLOSURE STATEMENTii
4	TABLE OF CONTENTS iii
5	TABLE OF AUTHORITIES iv
7	Cases iv
8	Statutes and rules
10	Other authorities viii
11	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENTix
12 13	ROUTING STATEMENT
14	
15 16	I. ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL
17	II. STATEMENT OF THE CASE
18 19	III. STATEMENT OF FACTS5
20	IV. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT7
21 22	V. STANDARD OF REVIEW 8
23	VI. ARGUMENT9
2425	1. Defendant Bank's trust deed was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on July 11, 2012
26	10reciosure saie neid on July 11, 2012
2728	2. Defendant Bank did not prove that the HOA's superpriority lien was paid prior to the public auction held on July 11, 2012 11
	iii

1 2	3.	The HOA's superpriority lien can only be paid by the holder of the security interest described in NRS 116.3116(2)(b) 15
3 4	4.	Defendant Bank did not prove the element of fraud, unfairness or oppression required by the California rule
5 6 7	5.	As a transferee of a bona fide purchaser, Teal Petals St. Trust is protected from defendant Bank's unrecorded claim that the assessment lien did not include a superpriority portion
8 9 10	6.	The foreclosure sale did not violate defendant Bank's due process rights
11 12 13	7.	Because defendant Bank had an adequate remedy at law against the HOA and Alessi, defendant Bank was not entitled to equitable relief against Teal Petals St. Trust altering the legal effect of the HOA foreclosure sale
1415	VII. CONC	ELUSION
16 17		ATE OF COMPLIANCE
18	CERTIFIC <i>i</i>	ATE OF SERVICE
19 20		TABLE OF AUTHORITIES
21	CASES:	
22		
23	Nevada cas	es:
2425	Bank of Am	nerica, N.A. v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC,
26	No. 6	9323, 420 P.3d 559 (Table) (Nev. June 15, 2018)
2728	(unpu	ablished disposition)
		;

1	The Bank of New York Mellon v. SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC,
2	No. 68165 (Nev. June 15, 2018) (unpublished disposition)
4	Conley v. Chedic, 6 Nev. 222 (1870)
56	County of Washoe v. City of Reno,
7	77 Nev. 152, 360 P.2d 602 (1961)
8	Hankins v. Administrator of Veteran Affairs,
10	92 Nev. 578, 555 P.2d 483 (1976)
11 12	Horizons at Seven Hills v. Ikon Holdings, LLC,
13	132 Nev. Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d 66 (2016)9
14 15	Las Vegas Valley Water District v. Curtis Park Manor Water Users Ass'n,
16	98 Nev. 275, 646 P.2d 549 (1982)
17 18	Nationstar Mortgage, LLC v. Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2227 Shadow Canyon,
19	133 Nev., Adv. Op. 91, 405 P.3d 641 (2017)
2021	Public Employees' Benefits Program v. Las Vegas Metropolitan Police Dep't,
22	124 Nev. 138, 179 P.3d 542 (2008)
2324	Rosenbaum v. Rosenbaum, 86 Nev. 550, 471 P.2d 254 (1970)
25	
2627	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 350 Durango 104 v. Wells Fargo Home Mortgage,
28	133 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 388 P.3d 970 (2017)

1	Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2141 Golden Hill v. JPMorgan Chase Bank,
2	National Association, 408 P.3d 558 (Table), 2017 WL 6597154
4	(Nev. Dec. 22, 2017)(unpublished disposition)
56	Schwartz v. Schwartz, 95 Nev. 202, 591 P.2d 1137 (1979)
7	SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. U.S. Bank, N.A.,
89	130 Nev. 742, 334 P.3d 408 (2014)
10	SFR Investments Pool 1, LLC v. Wells Fargo Bank, N.A., No. 70471, 2018
11 12	WL 6609670 (Table) (Dec. 13, 2018)(unpublished disposition) 21-22
13	Shadow Wood Homeowners Association, Inc. v. New York Community Bancorp,
14 15	<u>Inc.</u> , 132 Nev. Adv. Op. 5, 366 P.3d 1105 (2016) 22, 25, 30-31, 33, 37
16 17	<u>Sherman v. Clark</u> , 4 Nev. 138 (1868)
18	State v. Second Judicial District Court, 49 Nev. 145, 241 P. 317 (1925) 36
19 20	<u>Turley v. Thomas</u> , 31 Nev. 181, 101 P. 568 (1909)
21	<u>Turner v. Dewco</u> , 87 Nev. 14, 479 P.2d 462 (1971)
22 23	Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026 (2005) 8, 14
	Federal and other cases:
25 26	Acierno v. Worthy Bros. Pipeline Corp., 656 A.2d 1085 (Del. 1995) 16
27 28	Bembridge v. Miller, 385 P.2d 172 (Ore. 1963)

1	Carr v. Rosien, 238 Cal. App. 4th 845, 190 Cal. Rptr. 3d 245 (2015) 32
2	Cochran v. Griffith Energy Serv., Inc.,
4	993 A.2d 1153 (Md. Ct. Spec. App. 2010)
56	Graff v. Burnett, 414 N.W.2d 271 (Neb. 1987)
7	Los Angeles Inv. Co. v. Torchia, 106 Cal. App. 21, 288 P. 810 (1930) 32
8	March v. Pantaleo, 4 Cal. 2d 242, 48 P.2d 29 (1935)
10	McDowell Welding & Pipefitting, Inc. v. United States Gypsum Co.,
11 12	139 P.3d 9 (Ore. 2008)
13	Melendrez v. D&I Investment, Inc.,
14 15	127 Cal. App. 4th 1238, 26 Cal. Rptr. 3d 413 (2005)
16 17	Moeller v. Lien, 25 Cal. App. 4th 822, 30 Cal. Rptr. 777 (1994)
18	Morales v. Trans World Airlines, Inc., 504 U.S. 374 (1992)
19	Nguyen v. Calhoun, 105 Cal. App. 4th 428, 129 Cal. Rptr. 2d 436 (2003) 11-12
2.1	Poole v. Watts, 139 Wash. App. 1018 (2007)
22 23	Smith v. United States, 373 F.2d 419 (4th Cir. 1966)
24	Southfork Investment Group, Inc. v. Williams,
2526	706 So. 2d 75 (Fla. Dist. Ct. App. 1998)
27	///
28	

1	United States v. Truckee-Carson Irrigation District,
2	71 F.R.D. 10, 13 (D. Nev. 1975)
	STATUTES AND RULES:
5	NRCP 811
7	NRCP 545
8	NRS 107.080
9	
11	NRS 107.090
	NRS 116.310312
1314	NRS 116.3116
15	NRS 116.31162
1617	NRS 116.31164
18	NRS 116.31168
19 20	OTHER AUTHORITIES:
21	Appraisal of Real Estate, 14th Ed. (Chicago: Appraisal Inst., 2013) 26
22	5 Miller & Starr, Cal. Real Est. § 11:52 (3d ed. 2011)
2324	Report of the Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts,
25	
2627	The Six-Month Limited Priority Lien for Association Fees Under
28	the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act (June 1, 2013) 18-19
	<u></u>

1	Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act
2	JURISDICTIONAL STATEMENT
3	GURISDIC HOWAL STATEMENT
4	(A) Basis for the Supreme Court's Appellate Jurisdiction: The order granting
56	defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment is appealable under NRAP3A(b)(1).
7	(B) The filing dates establishing the timeliness of the appeal: The findings of fact,
9	conclusions of law and order granting defendant Bank's motion for summary
10 11	judgment was filed on April 27, 2018. Notice of entry of the order was served and
12	filed on April 30, 2018. Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill filed the notice
13 14	of appeal on May 29, 2018.
15	On July 6, 2018, plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration. On September 4,
16 17	2018, the court entered its order denying motion for reconsideration. Notice of entry
18 19	of the order denying motion for reconsideration was served and filed on September
	4, 2018.
21 22	An order granting motion for NRCP 54(b) certification was filed on October
23	3, 2018. Notice of entry of the order granting motion for NRCP 54(b) certification
24 25	was served and filed on October 3, 2018.
26	(C) The appeal is from the findings of fact, conclusions of law and order granting
27 28	defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment, filed on April 27, 2018.

ROUTING STATEMENT

2	This case is a quiet title action. Rule 17 does not list quiet title matters as one of the
3	This case is a quiet title action. Rule 17 does not list quiet title matters as one o
4	cases retained by the Supreme Court. Counsel for defendants/appellants therefore
5	
6	believe that this appeal should be assigned to the Court of Appeals.

ISSUES PRESENTED ON APPEAL Whether the HOA foreclosure sale extinguished defendant Bank's deed of trust. Whether the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien was paid prior to the public auction held on July 11, 2012. Whether the superpriority portion of the HOA's lien can be paid by the unit owner. Whether defendant Bank proved the element of fraud, unfairness or oppression required by the California rule. Whether Teal Petals St. Trust is protected as the transferee of a bona fide purchaser from defendant's unrecorded claims and objections. Whether defendant Bank is entitled to equitable relief against Teal Petals St. Trusts from the extinguishment of the deed of trust. An order granting summary judgment is reviewed de novo without deference to the findings of the lower court.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On November 6, 2012, Venise Abelard (hereinafter "plaintiff") filed a complaint to recover damages for wrongful foreclosure of an assessment lien

1	recorded on behalf of Fort Apache Square Homeowners Association (hereinafter
2	"HOA") and for declaratory relief and quiet title that plaintiff still held title to the
4	property commonly known as 9352 Cranesbill Court, Las Vegas, Nevada 89149
56	(hereinafter "Property") and that 9352 Cranesbill Trust (hereinafter "Cranesbill")
7	acquired no interest in the Property by entering and paying the high bid at the HOA
9	foreclosure sale held on July 11, 2012. (JA1a, pgs. 1-14)
10	On December 13, 2012, the HOA, Mesa Management and Alessi & Koenig,
12	LLC (hereinafter "Alessi") filed an answer to complaint. (JA1a, pgs. 28-43)
13 14	On April 30, 2013, Iyad Haddad (hereinafter "Haddad") and Cranesbill filed
15	an answer and counterclaim. (JA1a, pgs. 50-54)
16 17	On May 24, 2013, plaintiff filed a reply to counterclaim. (JA1a, pgs. 55-58)
18	On September 12, 2014, plaintiff filed an amended complaint. (JA1b, pgs. 59-
19 20	88)
21 22	On October 27, 2014, Cranesbill and Haddad filed an answer to amended
	complaint and counterclaim. (JA1b, pgs. 89-94)
24 25	On November 20, 2014, plaintiff filed an answer to the counterclaim. (JA1b,
26	pgs. 95-98)
27 28	On September 10, 2015, Wells Fargo Bank, N.A. (hereinafter "defendant

1	Bank") filed an answer in intervention to Cranesbill's counterclaim and
	Dank) fried an answer in intervention to Cranesom's counterclaim and
2	counterclaims, cross-claims, and third-party complaint. (JA1b, pgs. 99-119)
4	On September 29, 2015, the HOA and Alessi filed an answer to defendant
56	Bank's cross-claim. (JA1b, pg. 120-139)
7	On January 12, 2016, plaintiff filed a second amended complaint. (JA1b, pgs.
8 9	140-157)
10 11	On February 16, 2016, Cranesbill and Haddad filed an answer to second
12	amended complaint and counterclaim. (JA1b, pgs. 158-163)
13 14	On January 31, 2018, defendant Bank filed a motion for summary judgment.
15	(JA1c, pgs. 216-237)
16 17	On January 31, 2018, Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill filed a
18	motion for summary judgment. (JA2b, pgs. 394-466)
19 20	On February 20, 2018, defendant Bank filed an opposition to the motion for
21 22	summary judgment filed by Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill. (JA3a,
23	pgs. 467-489)
24 25	On February 20, 2018, Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill filed an
26	opposition to defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs. 490-506)
27 28	On February 23, 2018, plaintiff filed an opposition to the motion for summary

judgment filed by Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill and a joinder to
defendant Bank's opposition to motion for summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs. 507-548)
On February 27, 2018, defendant Bank filed a reply in support of its motion for
summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs. 549-563)
On February 27, 2018, Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill filed a
reply in support of their motion for summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs. 564-599)
On April 27, 2018, the district court entered findings of fact, conclusions of
law and order granting defendant Bank's motion for summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs.
600-607)
On April 30, 2018, defendant Bank served and filed notice of entry of the
findings of fact, conclusions of law and order granting defendant Bank's motion for
summary judgment. (JA3a, pgs. 608-618)
Haddad, Teal Petals St. Trust and Cranesbill filed the notice of appeal on May
29, 2018. (JA3b, pgs. 619-620)
On July 6, 2018, plaintiff filed a motion for reconsideration. (JA3b, pgs. 632-
715)
On July 23, 2018, Haddad, Teal Petal St. Trust and Cranesbill filed an
opposition to the motion for reconsideration. (JA3b, pgs. 716-722)

On September 4, 2018, the court entered its order denying motion for reconsideration. (JA3b, pgs. 723-724)

Notice of entry of the order denying motion for reconsideration was served and filed on September 4, 2018. (JA3b, pgs. 725-728)

An order granting motion for NRCP 54(b) certification was filed on October 3, 2018. (JA3b, pgs. 729-730)

Notice of entry of the order granting motion for NRCP 54(b) certification was served and filed on October 3, 2018. (JA3b, pgs. 731-734)

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Cranesbill obtained title to the Property by entering and paying the high bid of \$4,900.00 at a public auction held on July 11, 2012. See copy of foreclosure deed recorded on July 18, 2012 at JA2b, pgs. 413-414.

Cranesbill conveyed all of its right, title and interest in the Property to Teal Petals St. Trust on July 27, 2012. See copy of grant, bargain, sale deed recorded on July 27, 2012 at JA2b, pgs. 439-442.

The public auction arose from a delinquency in assessments owed by plaintiff and Marcus Compere to the HOA pursuant to NRS Chapter 116.

Defendant Bank is the beneficiary by assignment of a deed of trust recorded as

an encumbrance against the Property on November 28, 2007. See deed of trust at JA1c, pgs. 170-182, and assignment of mortgage, recorded on October 17, 2012, at JA1c, pgs. 193-194.

The first page of the deed of trust (JA1c, pg. 170) identified plaintiff and Marcus Compere as the "Borrower" and DHI Mortgage Company, Ltd. as the "Lender." The deed of trust identified MERS, "solely as a nominee for Lender, hereinafter defined, and Lender's successors and assigns" as the beneficiary of the deed of trust.

On June 28, 2011, Alessi mailed a copy of a notice of delinquent assessment (lien) for \$2,337.58 to plaintiff and Marcus Compere at the Property. (JA2b, pgs. 418-419)

On July 12, 2011, Alessi recorded the notice of delinquent assessment (lien) against the Property. (JA2b, pg. 416)

On September 15, 2011, Alessi recorded a notice of default and election to sell under homeowners association lien for \$3,403.58 against the Property. (JA2b, pg. 421)

On September 23, 2011, Alessi mailed copies of the notice of default to plaintiff and Marcus Compere, to MERS, to Nevada Association Services, Inc., to

1	DHI Mortgage Company, Ltd., to City of Las Vegas Sewer, to Republic Services, and
2	to North American Title. (JA2b, pgs. 422-425)
4	On May 7, 2012, Alessi recorded a notice of trustee's sale for \$3,932.58
5 6	against the Property. (JA2b, pg. 427)
7	On May 7, 2012, Alessi mailed copies of the notice of trustee's sale to plaintiff
8 9	and Marcus Compere, to defendant Bank, to MERS, to Nevada Association Services,
	Inc., to DHI Mortgage Company, Ltd., to City of Las Vegas Sewer, to Republic
11 12	Services, to North American Title, to National Default Servicing Corp. and to the
13	Ombudsman's Office. (JA2b, pgs. 429-432)
14 15	On May 9, 2012, a copy of the notice of trustee's sale was served upon plaintiff
16 17	and Marcus Compere by posting of a copy of the notice in a conspicuous place on the
	Property. (JA2b, pgs. 434-435)
19 20	Copies of the notice of trustee's sale were also posted for 20 days
21	consecutively in three public places in Clark County, Nevada. (JA2b, pg. 434)
22 23	The notice of trustee's sale was published in the Clark County Legal News on
24	May 11, 2012, May 18, 2012 and May 25, 2012. (JA2b, pg. 437)
25	SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT
26	

The first deed of trust was extinguished when Cranesbill purchased the

Property at the HOA foreclosure sale held on July 11, 2012.

Defendant Bank did not prove that the HOA's superpriority lien was paid prior to the public auction held on July 11, 2012.

The HOA's superpriority lien can only be paid by the holder of the security interest described in NRS 116.3116(2)(b).

Defendant Bank did not prove the element of fraud, unfairness or oppression required by the California rule.

As a transferee of a bona fide purchaser, Teal Petals St. Trust is protected from defendant Bank's unrecorded claim that the assessment lien did not include a superpriority portion.

The foreclosure sale did not violate defendant Bank's due process rights.

Because defendant Bank had an adequate remedy at law against the HOA and Alessi, defendant Bank was not entitled to equitable relief against plaintiff altering the legal effect of the HOA foreclosure sale.

STANDARD OF REVIEW

In <u>Wood v. Safeway, Inc.</u>, 121 Nev. 724, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005), this Court stated that it "reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo, without deference to the findings of the lower court."

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

2

1

3

4 5

6 7

9

10

12 13

15 16

17 18

19

20 21

22

23 24

25 26

27

9

Defendant Bank's trust deed was extinguished by the HOA foreclosure sale held on July 11, 2012.

NRS 116.3116(2) provides that an HOA's assessment lien is "prior to all security interests described in paragraph (b) to the extent of any charges incurred by the association on a unit pursuant to NRS 116.310312 and to the extent of the assessments for common expenses based on the periodic budget adopted by the association pursuant to NRS 116.3115 which would have become due in the absence of acceleration during the 9 months immediately preceding institution of an action to enforce the lien. . . . "

The statute does not state that the superpriority amount is measured by the assessments which "are" past due or unpaid on the date that the action to enforce the lien is instituted. The superpriority amount is instead measured by the assessments which would have become due" during the nine months prior to the enforcement of the lien. The amount of each of the assessments is measured by the HOA's "periodic budget."

In Horizons at Seven Hills v. Ikon Holdings, 132 Nev., Adv. Op. 35, 373 P.3d 66, 73 (2016), this Court stated that the phrase "to the extent of" in NRS 116.3116(2)

means "amount equal to." In other words, the super priority portion of the lien is a

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