### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

9352 CRANESBILL TRUST; TEAL PETALS ST. TRUST; AND IYAD HADDAD,

Appellants,

vs.

WELLS FARGO BANK, N.A.,

Respondent.

Supreme Court Case No. 76017 District Court Case No. A671509

# APPEAL From the Eighth Judicial District Court The Honorable Linda Bell

### ANSWERING BRIEF

Andrew M. Jacobs
Nevada Bar No. 12787
Kelly H. Dove
Nevada Bar No. 10569
SNELL & WILMER L.L.P.
3883 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 1100
Las Vegas, NV 89169
Telephone: (702) 784-5200

Facsimile: (702) 784-5250 ajacobs@swlaw.com

kdove@swlaw.com

Attorneys for Respondent Wells Fargo Bank, N.A.

### NRAP 26.1 Disclosure Statement

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

### Summary of the Argument

This Court should decline to disturb the district court's ruling for several reasons. <u>First</u>, the HOA foreclosure sale by which it acquired title was necessarily subpriority in nature and, thus, subordinate to the Deed of Trust. Before the sale, Abelard paid more than twice the amount of the nine months of assessments due prior to the initiation of the HOA foreclosure. The payments were accepted and applied by the HOA, thus satisfying the superpriority component of the HOA's lien. The district court therefore did not err in concluding that the Deed of Trust survived the sale and remains on the Property.

Second, the HOA sale was improper and should be set aside because it was not properly conducted. The sale was commercially unreasonable because the HOA and its agents sold the property for a grossly inadequate price after its agent misrepresented to Abelard that

the foreclosure had been placed on hold pending a review of her dispute over the validity of the debt allegedly giving rise to the HOA's lien. The sale was also unfair because the HOA was unable to explain the origin or validity of many of the charges on Abelard's account, undermining the HOA's lien and the entire basis for the sale. Alternatively, the Court should declare that Cranesbill took title subject to Wells Fargo's deed of trust because the HOA and A&K failed to provide adequate notice to Wells Fargo of the sale.

<u>Third</u>, the district court did not err by finding that Cranesbill was not a bona fide purchaser.

In sum, the undisputed evidence shows that the superpriority portion of the lien was satisfied, and that the HOA, Mesa, and A&K failed to conduct the sale in a commercially reasonable manner and failed to provide Wells Fargo with adequate notice of the sale. As such, Appellants were not entitled to a declaration that it obtained title through the HOA foreclosure sale free and clear of any liens or encumbrances, including the Deed of Trust. This Court should affirm.

#### Standard of Review

This court reviews a district court's grant of summary judgment de novo. Wood v. Safeway, Inc., 121 Nev. 724, 729, 121 P.3d 1026, 1029 (2005).

### Argument

This Court held that payments by a homeowner of an amount sufficient to satisfy the superpriority lien can extinguish the Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2141 Golden Hill v. superpriority lien. JPMorgan Chase Bank, N.A., 2017 WL 6597154, Case No. 71246 (Nev. Dec. 22, 2017) ("Golden Hill"). Moreover, this Court has since declined to disturb that ruling despite challenges to it through a petition for rehearing, a petition for en banc reconsideration, and two amicus briefs. In rejecting the challenges to Golden Hill, the Court held that while the drafters may have contemplated lenders UCIOA's paying the superpriority lien, nothing in the Statute precludes a homeowner from doing so. In so holding, this Court correctly gave the unambiguous language of the Statute priority and declined to rewrite it based on post-enactment statements by third parties – material that cannot be fairly called legislative history.

With that as prologue, the Opening Brief misses the mark. It largely ignores *Golden Hill* and continues to argue that homeowners may not satisfy an HOA's superpriority lien. Its extensive arguments in conflict with that holding therefore fail, and unambiguously so.

This Court should affirm because the district court's ruling was consistent with *Golden Hill*, and the Opening Brief is premised on a plain error of law – the mistaken premise that a homeowner cannot satisfy the superpriority portion of an HOA lien.

### I. Because the Homeowner Satisfied the Superpriority Amount Prior to the HOA Sale, the Sale Did Not Extinguish the Deed of Trust.

Appellants' position that a homeowner cannot satisfy the superpriority portion of the lien is unsound and unsupported by the law.

# A. This Court Recognized in *Golden Hill* That a Homeowner May Satisfy a Superpriority Lien and Has Declined to Disturb That Decision.

Appellants' position is in direct conflict with this Court's holding in *Golden Hill* that payments by a homeowner of an amount sufficient to satisfy the superpriority lien can extinguish the superpriority lien. *Saticoy Bay LLC Series 2141 Golden Hill v. JPMorgan Chase Bank*, *N.A.*, 2017 WL 6597154, Case No. 71246 (Dec. 22, 2017) (unpublished).

In Golden Hill, this Court held that where the homeowner paid off the superpriority lien, the investor that purchased the property at the HOA foreclosure sale took the property subject to the deed of trust. Id. The position Appellants espouse in their Answering Brief is foursquare against this Court's ruling in Golden Hill.

Moreover, Golden Hill is consistent with this Court's authority regarding tender. This Court ruled in Stone Hollow Ave. Trust v. Bank of America, No. 64955, 2016 WL 4543202, at \*1 (Nev. Aug. 11, 2016) (overruled on other grounds) that an HOA may not reject a tender of the superpriority portion of the lien. Thus, if, at the time of a foreclosure sale, the superpriority portion of the lien had been tendered, leaving only the subpriority portion of the lien to be foreclosed, a deed of trust cannot be extinguished by virtue of the sale. Id. Because here, the superpriority amount had been paid, the superpriority lien could not have been foreclosed.

This Court has already declined to disturb *Golden Hill* – twice – and in doing so rejected the very arguments Appellants raise here. By way of background, a panel of this Court issued its decision in *Golden Hill* on December 22, 2017. The appellant petitioned for rehearing on

January 24, 2018, which the panel denied the petition for rehearing on February 26, 2018. The appellant then petitioned for en banc reconsideration on March 13, 2018, which this Court denied on April 27, 2018. The petitions raised the same and similar arguments to those Appellants raises here – that the homeowner cannot satisfy the superpriority lien, that allowing a homeowner to do so is inconsistent with the purpose of the superpriority lien mechanism, that the legislative history is inconsistent with that approach, and that only lenders can satisfy the superpriority lien.

This Court's order denying rehearing highlights why Appellants should not prevail here. The panel held that while it "agree[d] that the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act presupposes a lender satisfying the superpriority component of an HOA's lien, nothing in the Act appears to prevent a homeowner from doing so." (Case No. 71246, Feb. 26, 2018 Order denying petition for rehearing.) The en banc Court summarily denied the petition for en banc reconsideration that had raised the same arguments. These orders illustrate powerfully why this Court should not disturb the *Golden Hill* decision, as Appellants urges here.

# B. The Statute Does Not Restrict Who May Satisfy the Superpriority Amount.

Appellants incorrectly argue that under the Statute, only the lender may satisfy the superpriority amount. But the Statute says no such thing. By its terms, the Statute does not limit the ability to satisfy a superpriority lien to lenders or exclude homeowners. As noted just above, this Court has likewise recognized that fact when it denied a petition to rehear the *Golden Hill* appeal. The panel held that while it "agree[d] that the Uniform Common Interest Ownership Act presupposes a lender satisfying the superpriority component of an HOA's lien, nothing in the Act appears to prevent a homeowner from doing so." Appellants' argument therefore fails.

# C. Allowing a Homeowner to Satisfy the Superpriority Lien Is Sound Policy.

There is no policy reason standing against homeowners paying the superpriority lien. Statutory silence aside, any suggestion that a homeowner must pay the entire lien amount to protect her interests, and therefore cannot satisfy the superpriority lien, is likewise unsound. While it may be the case that a homeowner must pay the entire lien amount to save her title interest in the property, it does not follow that satisfaction of the superpriority lien only benefits the lienholder, and

does not benefit the homeowner. To the contrary, the satisfaction of the superpriority lien, and preservation of the deed of trust significantly benefits the homeowner.

An HOA sale that extinguishes the deed of trust does not extinguish the homeowner's debt. The obligation under the note remains, without the benefit of the property as a means of repayment. When lenders seek repayment from the homeowner, the amount sought from the homeowner individually (as opposed to from the asset) is the full amount of the debt.

Appellants offer no sound reason to limit the payment of a lien to a particular payor. While a lienholder has an interest in receiving payment and satisfaction of its lien, no law supports a lienholder's right to reject a payment because it comes from someone else. If Wells Fargo can pay only the superpriority lien – as no one disputes – so too could the homeowner, or anyone else who would wish to pay off the lien. Notably, the Statute does not limit who may satisfy the superpriority lien or exclude homeowners from doing so.

Appellants' reasoning to the contrary is flawed and contrary to this Court's rulings in *Golden Hill*.

# D. Appellants' Claim That Legislative History Supports Its Position Is Incorrect.

As a preliminary matter, the *Golden Hill* panel rejected all of Appellants' arguments relying on the UCOIA comments and Editorial Board Report, when it held that while it acknowledged that the UCOIA "presupposes a lender satisfying the superpriority component of an HOA's lien," but nonetheless held that "nothing in the Act appears to prevent a homeowner from doing so." (Case No. 71246, Feb. 26, 2018 Order denying petition for rehearing.) In addition to that rationale, Appellants' reliance on the 2014 UCOIA comments and 2013 Editorial Board Report are not appropriate sources of authority for the Court to consider here.

### 1. The Statute Is Not Ambiguous.

As a threshold matter, Appellants offer supposed legislative history and policy in support of its position, without first considering the statutory language. However, the Court may not look beyond a statute's plain language unless it is ambiguous. Washoe Med. Ctr. v. Second Judicial Dist. Court of State of Nev. ex rel. Cty. of Washoe, 122 Nev. 1298, 1302, 148 P.3d 790, 793 (2006). Here, Appellants have not established, or even argued that the statute is ambiguous. The Statute

does not restrict who may satisfy the superpriority lien; its plain language permits anyone to pay it. As such, the Statute is not ambiguous, and consideration of legislative history is not permitted, let alone the dubious sources Appellants proffers.

# 2. The Sources Appellants Supplied Are Not Legislative History and Should Not Be Considered.

Appellants make a number of representations about legislative intent and legislative history, but offers absolutely no evidence of legislative intent, and no legislative history. This Court should reject the post-enactment third-party source materials Appellants proffers.

Legislative history "of course, refers to the *pre-enactment* statements of those who drafted or voted for a law." *D.C. v. Heller*, 554 U.S. 570, 605 (2008). "It is considered persuasive by some, not because they reflect the general understanding of the disputed terms, but because the legislators who heard or read those statements presumably voted with that understanding." *Id.* "Postenactment legislative history," is a "contradiction in terms," and "refers to statements of those who drafted or voted for the law that are made after its enactment and hence could have had no effect on the congressional vote." *Id.* As such,

"[i]t most certainly does not refer to the examination of a variety of legal and other sources to determine the public understanding of a legal text in the period after its enactment or ratification." *Id.* Conflating the two "betrays a fundamental misunderstanding of the Court's interpretive task." *Id.* 

"After-the-fact statements ... are not a reliable indicator of what [the Legislature] intended when it passed the law, assuming extratextual sources are to any extent reliable for this purpose." Gustafson v. Alloyd Co., 513 U.S. 561, 579 (1995); see also Nw. Forest Res. Council v. Pilchuck Audubon Soc., 97 F.3d 1161, 1168 (9th Cir. 1996) (citing Gustafson, 513 U.S. at 579 (holding that a post-enactment letter from six members of Congress was not legislative history because material not available at the time of enactment cannot be legislative history).

Appellants cite no actual legislative history, i.e., statements by Nevada legislators in contemplating the passage of the 1993 Statute. The purported legislative history Appellants cite is not legislative history at all, but rather post-enactment statements by third parties.

The Court should not give credence to these sources – offered twenty years after the 1993 Statute's passage.

# a. Comments to the 2014 UCOIA Amendments Are Not Relevant or Helpful.

Appellants argue that comments to the UCOIA "prove" that a superpriority lien was created to require a lender to pay the lien. However, the comments upon which Appellants relies do not inform an analysis of NRS 116.3116 (1993) both because they accompany the UCOIA as amended in 2014 and because they do not substantively support Appellants' contention.

The 2014 comments Appellants cite significantly post-date the 1993 enactment of the Statute, and thus cannot be considered legislative history of any kind. Moreover, the comments address later versions of the UCOIA, and not the version closest to the governing Statute. Moreover, the comments do not advocate for the limitation on who may satisfy the superpriority lien, as Appellants contends. Indeed, they contemplate the owners' curing the assessment default:

This equitable balance was premised on the assumption that, if an association took action to enforce its lien and the unit owner failed to cure its assessment default, the first mortgage lender would promptly institute foreclosure proceedings and pay the unpaid assessments (up to six

months' worth) to the association to satisfy the association's limited priority lien.

The comments also acknowledge that the market did not function in the way the UCOIA contemplated following 2007. In a passage Appellants omitted in its selective quoting, the comments note, "The real estate market facing common interest communities post-2007 is substantially different from the one contemplated by the drafters of the original UCOIA. Many units are 'underwater,' with values below the outstanding first mortgage balance. More significantly, long delays have developed in the completion of foreclosures."

The comments contemplate that the lender may pay the superpriority lien to obtain clear title upon a deed of trust foreclosure, but contain no exclusion or limitation as to the homeowner's satisfying the lien. It is clear from the totality of the comments, which in any event should not be considered, that the comments do not interpret earlier versions of the UCOIA, and that owners are not precluded from satisfying the super-priority lien.

## b. The Joint Editorial Board Report Is Not Legislative History, and Was Inaccurately Represented by Appellants.

The other "authority" Appellants rely upon is a 2013 Report of the Joint Editorial Board for Uniform Real Property Acts. Appellants' reliance is misplaced for several reasons. First, because this post-dates the Statute's enactment by 20 years, this Report is not legislative history. Moreover, it does not come from the Nevada Legislature, and does not even come from the drafting or the drafters of the Uniform Act.

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